

*By-Laws of an AIAA Student Branch*

**STUDENT BRANCH OF  
THE AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF AERONAUTICS AND  
ASTRONAUTICS**

**ARTICLE I**

*Name*

The name of this organization shall be the \_\_\_\_\_ Auburn University \_\_\_\_\_ student branch of the American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics.

**ARTICLE II**

*Objective*

The Objective of this organization is to further, within its locality, the purposes and programs of the American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics.

**ARTICLE III**

*Membership*

1. All local members must be current dues paying members of AIAA.
2. Any full-time graduate or undergraduate student at \_\_\_\_\_ Auburn University \_\_\_\_\_ that is a current dues paying member of AIAA is considered to be a member of this student branch by AIAA HQ. Local dues may be required.
3. Student Branches may charge local dues.
4. Membership is restricted to regularly enrolled Auburn University students, faculty, and staff. Non-enrolled students, spouses, faculty, and staff may be associate members; however, they may not vote or hold office. No university student may be denied membership on the basis of race, sex, religion, national origin, color, age, disability, gender identity or expression, sexual orientation, or veteran status as outlined in the Auburn University Policy Regarding Prohibited Harassment of Students.

**ARTICLE IV**

*Officers*

1. The officers of the student branch shall be chosen from among the student members.
2. The officers of the organization shall consist of a, at least, President, Vice President, Secretary, and Treasurer.
3. All officers shall be elected for a term of one year. Officers may serve more than one term but must be reelected.
4. Officers shall be elected in the following manner:
  - a. A nominating committee shall nominate a minimum of one candidate for each office.
  - b. The report of the nominating committee shall be made one meeting in advance of the election meeting. At this time, nominations from the floor may be made.
  - c. A ballot shall be presented to the members at the meeting for a vote or may be sent via email or other applicable traceable communication method.

5. The duties of the President shall be to preside at all regular meetings of the organization, to preside at all meetings of the Executive Committee, and to serve as ex-officio member of all other committees. At the end of the academic year, the President shall submit to headquarters a report of the activities of the branch for the year.
6. The Vice-President shall assume the duties of the President in his/her absence and shall perform such duties as are generally associated with the office or assigned by the President.
7. The Secretary shall maintain minutes of the meetings of the branch and shall be custodian of all its records not specifically assigned to others. He/she shall conduct the correspondence of the branch and Executive Committee and send out notices of the meetings and shall keep a full and correct list of the members and their addresses.
8. The Treasurer shall have charge of the funds of the branch and shall make all required financial reports and such expenditures as may be authorized by the branch or Executive Committee.
9. If an officer, other than the Chair, is unable to perform his/her duties, the Chair may appoint a member to serve in his/her seat for the remainder of the term of office. A vacancy in the office of Chair is filled by the Vice Chair.

## **ARTICLE V**

### *Faculty Sponsorship and Liaison with Headquarters*

The branch shall show to the Board of Directors of the American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics evidence of faculty sponsorship in order to assure continuity of purpose and activities and conformity with the rules and regulations governing student activities at the institution. To this end headquarters:

- (a) Requires that the initial step in the organization of a student branch be the agreement of at least one faculty member that is a current AIAA dues paying member agree to serve as sponsor for the branch.
- (b) Requests announcements of new officers and coverage of special programs for release to the AIAA publications.

## **ARTICLE VI**

### *Executive Committee*

1. The Executive Committee shall consist of the four officers (President, Vice President, Secretary, and Treasurer) and all committee chairmen. They shall have general supervision of the work of the branch and shall perform such other duties, as the branch shall determine. The faculty advisor shall be an ex-officio member of the committee and a professional member of AIAA.
2. There shall be as many committees with as many members as deemed necessary by the branch membership to carry on the work of the branch. Committee chairs are appointed by the Branch Chair with the approval of the branch officers.

**ARTICLE VII**

*Meetings, Procedures and Quorums*

1. A minimum of at least four technical meetings per school year shall be held. Special meetings of the branch may be held at the call of the Chair or upon written request of 20% of the membership.
2. A quorum at any meeting of the student branch shall be at least 25% of the members of the branch.
3. Five members present shall constitute a quorum at any meeting of the Executive Committee.
4. The rules contained in *Robert's Rules of Order Revised* shall cover this branch in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with these bylaws or the bylaws of the American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics.

**ARTICLE VIII**

*Financial Affairs*

1. The fiscal year shall coincide with the AIAA fiscal year (October to September of the following year).
2. The branch shall not incur any obligations in excess of \$500.00 over the funds on hand.
3. In the event that the student branch should go through dissolution, then all assets shall be transferred to Auburn University, the university where the organization was established, or to AIAA Headquarters

**ARTICLE IX**

*Amendments and Limitations*

1. The members of the branch shall in all respects be governed by these by-laws, which are subject to the provisions of the constitution and the bylaws of the American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics.
2. Amendments to these by-laws may be made by a two-thirds affirmative vote of those student branch members present at a special meeting called for the express purpose of changing these by-laws. Such a meeting must be announced at least 10 days in advance. An amendment may be proposed by the Executive Committee or by a member petition to the Secretary. At least 10% of the membership endorses such a petition. No less than five members can offer such a petition when 10% of the membership is less than five individuals. No amendment that is inconsistent with the by-laws or the constitution of the American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics shall be submitted to vote.
3. These bylaws and any amendment hereof shall promptly, after adoption by the branch, be submitted to the Student Activities Committee of the American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics via Student Programs for approval. All amendments are subject to approval by the Student Activities Committee.

Certified as correct:

Dudley Nichols	Tristan Macke	July 6, 2019
Faculty Advisor	Student President	Date
Printed		

<i>D. Stephen Nichols</i>	<i>Tristan Macke</i>	7/6/2019
Faculty Advisor	Student President	Date
Signature		



# Constitution

**ARTICLE I NAME AND OBJECTIVE  
PURPOSE**

**1.1 Name**

The name of this organization is the American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Inc. (AIAA), hereinafter referred to as the Institute. The Institute is a scientific and engineering membership society incorporated under the State of New York Not-for-Profit Corporation Law.

**1.2 Purpose**

The purpose of the Institute is to advance the arts, sciences, and technology of aeronautics and astronautics and to nurture and promote the professionalism of those engaged in these pursuits. The Institute shall encourage original research, foster the dissemination of new knowledge, further the professional development of those engaged in scientific and engineering activities, improve public understanding of the profession and its contributions, foster education in engineering and science, promote communication among engineers and scientists and with other professional groups, and stimulate outstanding professional accomplishments. It shall also serve the needs and professional interests of members, bring to bear the scientific and technical capabilities of the profession in areas of national concern where it is equipped to contribute, and undertake other measures appropriate to its purpose.

**ARTICLE II BYLAWS**

**2.1 Bylaws**

Bylaws shall be established as hereinafter set forth for the purposes of governing the operations and administration of the Institute. The term "Bylaws" as used in this Constitution refers only to Institute Bylaws.

**2.2 Bylaws Amendments**

Both the Board of Trustees, hereinafter referred to as the Board, and the Council of Directors, hereafter referred to as the Council, may make, amend, or revoke

assigned portions of the Bylaws. The specific content each respective body has been assigned authority as well as the manner in which each respective body may amend the sections for which it has authority shall be described in the Bylaws. Proposed Bylaw changes and the reasons therefore shall be sent to all members of the Board or the Council by the Secretary at least 15 but not more than 90 days prior to such meeting.

**ARTICLE III MEMBERSHIP**

**3.1 Eligibility**

All persons engaged in the professional practice of the arts, sciences, or technology of aeronautics or astronautics, or in other work, which contributes to the advancement of aeronautics or astronautics, shall be eligible for membership in the Institute.

**3.2 Definition of Grades**

The membership of the Institute shall consist of the following grades of membership, for which the specific qualifications, dues, obligations, prerogatives, transfer, and the causes for termination of membership shall be as fixed by the Bylaws:

HONORARY FELLOWS shall be persons of eminence in aeronautics or astronautics recognized by a long and highly contributive career in the arts, sciences, or technology thereof.

HONORARY MEMBERS shall be persons of distinction associated with aeronautics or astronautics, and shall be elected by the Board. FELLOWS shall be persons of distinction in aeronautics or astronautics, and shall have made notable and valuable contributions to the arts, sciences, or technology thereof.

ASSOCIATE FELLOWS shall be persons who have accomplished or been in charge of important engineering or scientific work, or who have done original work of outstanding merit, or who have otherwise made outstanding contributions to the arts, sciences, or technology of aeronautics or

astronautics.

SENIOR MEMBERS shall be persons who have demonstrated a successful professional practice in the arts, sciences, or technology of aeronautics or astronautics for the equivalent of at least 8 years.

MEMBERS shall be persons who have acquired a professional standing in the practice of the arts, sciences, or technology of aeronautics or astronautics.

ASSOCIATE MEMBERS shall be persons who have an interest in the development or application of aeronautics or astronautics.

AFFILIATE MEMBERS shall be persons who have acquired a professional standing and grade of membership in another scientific or engineering society who desire to maintain a membership in AIAA because of an overlap of technical responsibility and/or interest. The grade will be extended only to members of societies with which reciprocity agreements have been established.

STUDENT MEMBERS shall be persons interested in aeronautics or astronautics whose primary activity is study at recognized colleges, universities, and secondary schools offering curricula and studies acceptable to the Institute.

CORPORATE MEMBERS shall be organizations whose activities include professional practice of the arts, sciences, or technology of aeronautics or astronautics.

### 3.3 Privileges

Honorary Fellows, Fellows, Associate Fellows, Senior Members, and Members shall be eligible to hold office and to vote. Honorary Members shall be entitled to vote but shall not be entitled to be an officer or director.

## ARTICLE IV MANAGEMENT

### 4.1 Membership Control

Voting Members of the Institute shall have the authority to approve or disapprove proposed amendments to this Constitution.

### 4.2 Board of Trustees

The Board shall have authority over all matters of the Institute subject to the restrictions imposed by this Constitution, the Institute's Bylaws, New York State law, and the Institute's Articles of Incorporation. The composition of the Board, including officers, duties, terms of office, manner of election, etc., shall be set forth in the Bylaws.

## ARTICLE V RESTRICTION ON BENEFITS

### 5.1 Restriction on Benefits

No elected Officer, Trustee, or Director shall receive, directly or indirectly, any salary, travel expenses, compensation, or emolument from the Institute either as such Officer, Trustee or Director or in any other capacity, unless authorized by the Bylaws or by the concurring vote of 2/3 of the Board at a regularly constituted meeting. No Officer, Trustee, or Director shall be interested, directly or indirectly, in any contract relating to the operations of the Institute, or in any contract for furnishing supplies thereto, unless authorized by the Bylaws, or by the concurring vote of 2/3 of the Board at a regularly constituted meeting.

## ARTICLE VI MEETINGS

### 6.1 Special Business Meetings

Special Business Meetings may be called upon the request of a majority of the Board or shall be called by the President upon the written petition of at least 300 voting members.

### 6.2 Conduct of Meetings

Notice in writing of the Annual Business Meeting shall be sent to all voting members by the Secretary at least 30 but not more than 60 days before the date of such meeting. Notice of Special Business Meetings shall state the purpose for which they are called and no other business shall be transacted at such meetings.

### 6.3 Quorum

The presence in person of at least 100 voting members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. At all business meetings of the Institute, questions shall be determined by the majority vote of the members voting in person, unless the manner of deciding is otherwise specifically regulated by statute.

## ARTICLE VII CONSTITUTIONAL AMENDMENTS

### 7.1 Constitutional Amendments

Amendments to this Constitution shall be accomplished by ballot of the voting members. Amendments may be proposed by a petition signed by at least 300 voting members or by a resolution adopted by a majority of the Board.

### Ballots

Proposed constitutional amendments shall, after review by legal counsel, be sent by the Secretary with a ballot to all voting members setting a date not less than 60 days thereafter by which all votes are to be cast.

### 7.3 Adoption

A proposed constitutional amendment shall be adopted if it receives the favorable vote of 2/3 of all votes cast provided that the number of votes cast is at least 10% of the number of qualified voters. If adopted, the amendment shall take effect at such time as specified in the ballot.



# Bylaws

## **AIAABYLAWS**

### **Article I INSTITUTE PURPOSE AND ACTIVITIES**

**Section 1.1 Purpose:** The purpose of the Institute, as set forth in its Constitution, shall include the following activities:

- 1.1.1 Holding Section, Regional, U.S., and International meetings for the interchange of scientific and technical information through the presentation and discussion of original papers.
- 1.1.2 Publishing scientific and technical materials to serve the needs of the members in all specialty areas.
- 1.1.3 Encouraging meritorious contributions to science and engineering by means of awards, honors, and other suitable recognition.
- 1.1.4 Maintaining a library and technical information service to provide members with published information available from worldwide sources.
- 1.1.5 Effecting close cooperation with educational institutions to encourage high standards of technical education and to assist in the development of future scientists and engineers.
- 1.1.6 Using appropriate communications media for the improvement of public understanding of the profession and its contributions.
- 1.1.7 Providing members with other services as may be required.

**Section 1.2 Religious Activity:** Out of respect for all religious beliefs, no religious activity of any kind shall be undertaken by or under the auspices of the Institute without Board approval.

### **Article II MEMBERSHIP**

**Section 2.1 Board Authority:** Except as otherwise specified, all matters relating to admission, assignment of membership grade, or advance in grade for individuals shall be the responsibility of the Board or its designated representative. All decisions of the Board regarding matters of membership shall be final and not subject to appeal.

**Section 2.2 Honorary Fellows:** Honorary Fellows may be nominated from the ranks of the Fellows by any Honorary Fellow or Fellow in good standing and shall be elected by the Board. Self-nominations are not permitted. The names of not more than 4 nominees deemed the most worthy of the Honorary Fellow honor shall be recommended to the Board for election each year, although no more than 3 nominees may be from the same country. The manner in which Honorary Fellows are recommended to and selected by the Board shall be established by the Board from time to time and specified in the Board's published policies and procedures and amended from time to time.

**Section 2.3 Honorary Members:** Honorary members shall be nominated by the Honors and Awards Committee and elected by the Board.

**Section 2.4 Fellows:** Fellows may be nominated from the ranks of the Associate Fellows by any member in good standing and shall be elected by the Board. Self-nominations are not permitted. One Fellow for every one hundred twenty-five (125) Associate Fellows may be

elected annually. The most qualified nominees shall be recommended to the Board for election. The manner in which Fellows are recommended to and selected by the Board shall be established by the Board from time to time and specified in the Board's published policies and procedures and amended from time to time.

**Section 2.5 Associate Fellows:** Associate Fellows may be nominated by any member in good standing. Self-nominations are not permitted, and the nominator cannot also act as a reference. A maximum of one Associate Fellow for every 150 voting members may be upgraded annually. Nominees must be senior members of the Institute in good standing, have twelve (12) years minimum of professional experience, and furnish three references, Associate Fellow grade or higher. The President shall appoint an Associate Fellow Grade Committee Chair.

**Section 2.6 Senior Members:** Senior Member grade applicants shall comply with the rules and regulations as set forth in the Board's policies and standing rules and amended from time to time.

**Section 2.7 Members:** Member grade applicants shall have achieved a Bachelor's Degree in science, technology, engineering, or math or equivalent qualifications through professional practice.

**Section 2.8 Associate Members:** Associate Member grade or other professional applicants need not furnish any references.

**Section 2.9 Affiliate Members:** Affiliate Member grade applicants shall hold professional membership grade in recognized scientific, engineering, or professional societies and shall comply with the rules and regulations as set forth in the Board's policies and procedures and amended from time to time. Affiliate Members may not vote or hold elective office. Affiliate Members may subscribe to journals and attend meetings at rates to be established in the reciprocity agreement as approved by the Board with the society concerned.

**Section 2.10 Student Members:** Student Member applicants shall comply with the rules and regulations as set forth in the Board's policies and standing rules and amended from time to time. The total cumulative period for a student to hold the Student Member grade shall be limited to ten (10) years beyond high school unless a waiver is granted by the Board. Graduate students shall be given the option of applying for membership in grades other than Student Member. Upon graduation or completion of the educational program, the Student Member shall be automatically eligible for the appropriate professional membership grade. Professional members returning to full-time graduate study in a recognized educational program may request to be placed in "return to full-time study" status, and thus be eligible for AIAA graduate awards, student conferences, and design competitions. The educational institution shall determine full-time status of graduate students.

**Section 2.11 Corporate Membership:** Corporate Membership applicants shall be reviewed and approved by the Board.

**Section 2.12 Application for Membership and Higher Grades:** Applications for individual membership in the Institute, or for transfer to a higher grade where permitted shall comply with the rules and regulations as set forth in the Board's policies and procedures and amended from time to time.

**Section 2.13 Equivalency for practice:** Post-baccalaureate engineering or science degrees from an accredited educational institution shall be considered equivalent to professional practice for an equivalent number of years, up to a maximum of 4 years.

**Section 2.14 Annual dues:** for all grades of members shall be annually reviewed and the amounts set by the Board. Members in all grades shall be liable for payment of dues until membership shall have terminated by resignation or otherwise. The Board may waive dues in whole or in part at its discretion. No member shall be entitled to any return of dues upon severance in any manner of his membership in the Institute, or on liquidation of the Institute. Membership is determined by the applicant's personal education and work experience and thus is not transferable. Services to members (except Student Member grade) whose dues are in arrears shall be suspended 1 month after membership expiration date. Delinquent members (including Student Member grade) shall be dropped from the membership rolls 3 months after the membership expiration date.

**Section 2.15: Revocation of membership:** Failure to comply with the Board's published policies regarding the timely payment of dues will result in the cancellation of membership. Moreover, the Board may revoke membership for any member found to be in violation of AIM's Code of Ethics as referenced in Article XIV of these Bylaws.

### **Article III ORGANIZATION**

**Section 3.1 General Organization:** Three organizational elements are available to administer and manage membership activities, one based on geographic distribution of members, one based on technical interests of members, and one based on professional interests of members.

**Section 3.2 Geographic Groupings:** For purposes of administering its affairs, the Institute is organized geographically.

3.2.1 Student Branches and Sections: The basic units of geographical organization are referred to as a Student Branch (see section 3.2.1.1), which is based on student membership, and a Section (see section 3.2.1.2), which is based on professional membership.

3.2.1.1 Student Branches: Members may petition the Board, in accordance with its rules and polices established and published from time to time, to establish Student Branches based on University affiliation. A Student Branch may be organized at those institutions of accepted standing where the curriculum is designed to prepare students for a professional career in science and engineering. The membership of a Student Branch shall include all Student Members of the Institute studying at an institution designated by the Board as one in which a Student Branch exists. Membership from each Student Branch shall elect a chair who will represent their respective membership at meetings of the Sections/Regions as defined in section 3.2.1/3.2.2. The term of the chair shall be one year and there shall be a limit of the chair serving two consecutive terms. The chair shall coordinate the Student Branch activities and serve as the liaison between the Student Branch and the Section/Region. A Student Branch may create and implement programs and services for its members according to guidelines established and published by the Board from time to time. Student Branches may charge local dues. Incidental voluntary collections for social and technical activities are permitted under

rules and policies established and published by the Board from time to time. The Board may from time to time direct the dissolution of any Student Branch and such other changes in Student Branch composition, membership, and jurisdiction, as it shall deem advisable.

3.2.1.2 Sections: Members may petition the Board, in accordance with its rules and policies established and published from time to time, to establish Sections based on geographic boundaries within each Region (e.g., cities, counties) as defined in section 3.2.2. The Board shall establish Sections, consisting of members who share a defined geographical location. Membership from each Section shall elect a chair who will represent their respective membership at meetings of the Regions. The term of the chair shall be one year and there shall be no limit to the number of years a member may serve as chair. Any Section chair may be removed from office by a vote of three-quarters (3/4) of the total votes cast by the voting members who belong to that Section. The chair shall coordinate the Section activities and serve as the liaison between the Section and the Region. Sections may create and implement programs and services for its members according to guidelines established and published by the Board from time to time. The Board may terminate the existence of any such Section according to rules it establishes and publishes for the creation and dissolution of Sections from time to time.

3.2.2 Regions: Regions shall be formed by the Board to coordinate the activities of geographically related Sections. The Board will group Sections as defined in 3.2.1 to facilitate cooperative efforts between the various geographical areas. A Regional Director shall lead each Region. The voting members who belong to that region shall elect the Regional Director for that region. The Regional Director for each group shall be a member of the Regional Engagement Activities Division (READ) as defined in section 3.2.3 as well as a delegate to the Council. The term for Regional Directors shall be three years and there shall be a limit of the Regional Director serving two consecutive terms. The Regional Director's term of office shall begin at the conclusion of the first Council meeting after which an election takes place and shall end at the conclusion of the first Council meeting three years from that date after which another election takes place. Any Regional Director may be removed from office by a vote of three-quarters (3/4) of the total votes cast by the voting members of that Region or three-quarters (3/4) vote of the voting membership of the Council. The removal of a Regional Director by the Council shall occur when three-quarters (3/4) of the voting members of the Council determine, at the groups' sole discretion, that the incumbent Regional Director should no longer serve in his respective position. The procedures for removing a Regional Director by either the Council or the voting members of the Region in question shall be in accordance with rules established by the Council and published in its Standing Rules from time to time.

Should a vacancy occur in the office of Regional Director, the Board may appoint an Interim Regional Director until such time as it is feasible to hold a Regional election. The appointment shall be of a member who resides in the Region in which the vacancy has occurred. The Regional Director election shall be for the unexpired term or for a full term, as the Board may direct. Such appointment, succession, or election for an unexpired term shall not be deemed a term of office within the meaning of any restriction terms of office within these Bylaws. In addition to these duties, the Regional Director shall serve to coordinate the work of Sections within the Region and serve as a liaison between the members within the Region and the

Board. The Board may terminate the existence of any such Region according to rules it establishes and publishes for the creation and

dissolution of Regions from time to time.

**3.2.3 Regional Engagement Activities Division (READ):** The READ is composed of the Regional Directors as defined in section 3.2.2. The Chief of the Sections and Regions Division shall be elected by a simple majority vote of the Regional Directors. The Chief will not be a current Regional Director; however, the Chief must have served as a Regional Director in the past. The term of the Chief shall be three years and there shall be a limit of the Chief serving one consecutive term. The Chief's term of office shall begin at the conclusion of the first Council meeting after which an election takes place and shall end at the conclusion of the first Council meeting three years from that date after which another election takes place. The Chief may be removed from office by a vote of three-quarters (3/4) of the total votes cast by the voting members of the READ or three-quarters (3/4) vote of the voting membership of the Council. The removal of a Chief by the Council shall occur when three-quarters (3/4) of the voting members of the Council determine, at the groups' sole discretion, that the incumbent Chief should no longer serve in his respective position. The procedures for removing a Chief by either the Council or the voting members of the READ shall be in accordance with rules established by the Council from time to time. Should a vacancy occur in the office of Chief, the Council may appoint an Interim Chief to complete the unfinished term. The appointment shall be of a member who resides in the Division in which the vacancy has occurred and meets the designated criteria. Such appointment, succession, or election for an unexpired term shall not be deemed a term of office within the meaning of any restriction terms of office within these Bylaws.

**Section 3.3 Technical Groupings:** For purposes of administering its affairs, the Institute is organized into technical groupings.

**3.3.1 Technical Committees (TCs):** Members may petition the Board, in accordance with its rules and policies established and published from time to time, to establish Technical Committees that encompass member-identified technical interests. The Board shall establish Technical Committees, consisting of members whose technical interests are particularly oriented toward a specific field in aeronautics or astronautics or toward closely related fields that contribute significantly to aeronautics or astronautics. The means by which individuals become members of Technical Committees shall be established by the Board. Each committee shall have a chair who will represent their respective membership at meetings of the Technical Groups as defined in section 3.3.2. The means by which the chair shall be selected shall be established by the Board. The term of the chair shall be two years and there shall be a limit of the chair serving one consecutive term. Any Technical Committee chair may be removed from office by a vote of three-quarters (3/4) of the total votes cast by the voting members who belong to that technical committee. The chair shall coordinate the committee activities and serve as the liaison between the Technical Committee and the Technical Group. Technical Committees may create and implement programs and services for its members according to guidelines established and published by the Board from time to time. The Board may terminate the existence of any such Technical Committee according to rules it establishes and publishes for the creation and dissolution of Technical Committees from time to time.

**3.3.2 Technical Groups:** Technical Groups shall be formed by the Board to coordinate the activities of related Technical Committees. The Board will group Technical Committees as defined in 3.3.1 to facilitate cooperative efforts between the various technical disciplines. A Technical Director shall lead each Technical Group. The voting members who belong to

that group shall elect the Technical Director for that group. The Technical Director for each group shall be a member of the Technical Activities Division (TAD) as defined in section 3.3.3 as well as a delegate to the Council. The term for Technical Directors shall be three years and there shall be a limit of the Technical Director serving two consecutive terms. The Technical Group Director's term of office shall begin at the conclusion of the first Council meeting after which an election takes place and shall end at the conclusion of the first Council meeting three years from that date after which another election takes place. Any Technical Group Director may be removed from office by a vote of three-quarters (3/4) of the total votes cast by the voting members who belong to that technical group or three-quarters (3/4) vote of the voting membership of the Council. The removal of a Technical Group Director by the Council shall occur when three-quarters (3/4) of the voting members of the Council determine, at the groups' sole discretion, that the incumbent Technical Group Director should no longer serve in his respective position. The procedures for removing a Technical Group Director by either the Council or the voting members of the Technical Group in question shall be in accordance with rules established by the Council and published in its Standing Rules from time to time.

Should a vacancy occur in the office of a Technical Group Director, the Board may appoint an Interim Technical Group Director until such time as it is feasible to hold a Technical Group Director election. The appointment shall be of a member who belongs to the Technical Group in which the vacancy has occurred. The Technical Group Director election shall be for the unexpired term or for a full term, as the Board may direct. Such appointment, succession, or election for an unexpired term shall not be deemed a term of office within the meaning of any restriction terms of office within these Bylaws. In addition to these duties, the Technical Group Director shall serve to coordinate the work of Technical Committees within the group and serve as a liaison between the members within the group and the Board. The Board may terminate the existence of any such Technical Group according to rules it establishes and publishes for the creation and dissolution of Technical Groups from time to time.

3.3.3 Technical Activities Division (TAD): TAD is composed of the Technical Group Directors as defined in section 3.3.2. The Chief of the Technical Activities Division shall be elected by simple majority of the votes cast by the Technical Directors and Division committees. Each committee shall have one vote. The Chief will not be a current Technical Group Director; however, the Chief must have served as a Technical Group Director in the past. The term of the Chief shall be three years and there shall be a limit of the Chief serving one consecutive term. The Chief's term of office shall begin at the conclusion of the first Council meeting after which an election takes place and shall end at the conclusion of the first Council meeting three years from that date after which another election takes place. The Chief may be removed from office by a three-quarters (3/4) vote of the Technical Group Directors and Division committees. Each committee shall have one vote. The Chief may also be removed by a three-quarters (3/4) vote of the voting membership of the Council. The removal of a Chief by the Council shall occur when three-quarters (3/4) of the voting members of the Council determine, at the groups' sole discretion, that the incumbent Chief should no longer serve in his respective position. The procedures for removing a Chief by either the Council or the Technical Group Directors and Division committees shall be in accordance with rules established by the Council from time to time. Should a vacancy occur in the office of Chief, the Council may appoint an Interim Chief to complete the unfinished term. The appointment

shall be of a member of the Division in which the vacancy has occurred and meets the designated criteria. Such appointment, succession, or election for an unexpired term shall not be deemed a term of

office within the meaning of any restriction terms of office within these Bylaws.

**Section 3.4 Integration and Outreach Groupings:** For purposes of administering its affairs, the Institute is organized into professional groupings.

3.4.1 Integration and Outreach Committees: Members may petition the Board, in accordance with its rules and policies established and published from time to time, to establish Integration and Outreach Committees that encompass member-identified professional interests. The Board shall establish Integration and Outreach Committees, consisting of members whose professional interests are particularly oriented toward a specific program or broad discipline within aeronautics or astronautics or toward closely related fields that contribute significantly to aeronautics or astronautics. The means by which individuals become members of Integration and Outreach Committees shall be established by the Board. Each committee shall have a chair who will represent their respective membership at meetings of the Integration and Outreach Groups as defined in section 3.4.2. The means by which the chair shall be selected shall be established by the Board. The term of the chair shall be one year and there shall be no limit to the number of years a member may serve as chair. Any Integration and Outreach Committee chair may be removed from office by a vote of three-quarters (3/4) of the total votes cast by the voting members who belong to that Integration and Outreach Committee. The chair shall coordinate the committee activities and serve as the liaison between the Integration and Outreach Committee and the Integration and Outreach Groups. Integration and Outreach Committees may create and implement programs and services for its members according to guidelines established and published by the Board from time to time. The Board may terminate the existence of any such Integration and Outreach Committee according to rules it establishes and publishes for the creation and dissolution of Integration and Outreach Committees from time to time.

3.4.2 : Integration and Outreach Groups: Integration and Outreach Groups shall be formed by the Board to coordinate the activities of related Integration and Outreach Committees. The Board will group Integration and Outreach Committees as defined in 3.4.1 to facilitate cooperative efforts between the various professional areas. An Integration and Outreach Group Director shall lead each Integration and Outreach Group. The voting members who belong to that group shall elect the Integration and Outreach Director for that group. The Integration and Outreach Director for each group shall be a member of the Integration and Outreach Activities Division (IOD) as defined in section 3.4.3 as well as a delegate to the Council. The term for Integration and Outreach Group Directors shall be three years and there shall be a limit of the Integration and Outreach Group Director serving two consecutive terms. The Integration and Outreach Group Director's term of office shall begin at the conclusion of the first Council meeting after which an election takes place and shall end at the conclusion of the first Council meeting three years from that date after which another election takes place. Any Integration and Outreach Director may be removed from office at any meeting of the Council by a vote of three-quarters (3/4) of the total votes cast by the voting members of that Integration and Outreach Group or three-quarters (3/4) vote of the voting membership of the Council. The removal of a Integration and Outreach Group Director by the Council shall occur when three-quarters (3/4) of the voting members of the Council determine, at the groups' sole discretion, that the incumbent Integration and Outreach Group Director should no longer serve in his respective position. The procedures for removing a Integration and Outreach Group Director by either the Council or the voting members of the Integration and Outreach Group in question shall be in accordance with rules established by the Council and published in its Standing Rules from time to time.

Should a vacancy occur in the office of an Integration and Outreach Group Director, the Board may appoint an Interim Integration and Outreach Group Director until such time as it is feasible to hold an Integration and Outreach Group Director election. The appointment shall be of a member who belongs to the Integration and Outreach Group in which the vacancy has occurred. The Integration and Outreach Group Director election shall be for the unexpired term or for a full term, as the Board may direct. Such appointment, succession, or election for an unexpired term shall not be deemed a term of office within the meaning of any restriction terms of office within these Bylaws. In addition to these duties, the Integration and Outreach Group Director shall serve to coordinate the work of Integration and Outreach Committees within the group and serve as a liaison between the members within the group and the Board. The Board may terminate the existence of any such Integration and Outreach Group according to rules it establishes and publishes for the creation and dissolution of Integration and Outreach Groups from time to time.

3.4.3 Integration and Outreach Activities Division (IOD): The IOD is composed of the Integration and Outreach Group Directors as defined in section 3.4.2. The Chief of the Integration and Outreach Division shall be elected by simple majority of the votes cast by the Integration and Outreach Directors and the Division committees. Each committee shall have one vote. The Chief will not be a current Integration and Outreach Group Director; however, the Chief must have served as an Integration and Outreach Group Director in the past. The term of the Chief shall be three years and there shall be a limit of the Chief serving one consecutive term. The Chief's term of office shall begin at the conclusion of the first Council meeting after which an election takes place and shall end at the conclusion of the first Council meeting three years from that date after which another election takes place. The Chief may be removed by a vote of three-quarters (3/4) of the total votes cast by the voting members of the IOD or a three-quarters (3/4) vote of the voting membership of the Council. The removal of the Chief by the Council shall occur when three-quarters (3/4) of the voting members of the Council determine, at the groups' sole discretion, that the incumbent Integration and Outreach Group Director should no longer serve in his respective position. The procedures for removing a Chief by either the Council or the voting members of the region in question shall be in accordance with rules established by the Council from time to time. Should a vacancy occur in the office of Chief, the Council may appoint an Interim Chief to complete the unfinished term. The appointment shall be of a member of the Division in which the vacancy has occurred and meets the designated criteria. Such appointment, succession, or election for an unexpired term shall not be deemed a term of office within the meaning of any restriction terms of office within these Bylaws.

## **Article IV BOARD OF TRUSTEES**

**Section 4.1 Authority of the Board of Trustees;** The Board shall have authority over all matters of the Association subject to the restrictions imposed by these Bylaws.

**Section 4.2 Qualifications for Board of Trustees:** All voting trustees must be Honorary Fellows, Fellows, Associate Fellows, Senior Members, and Members of AIAA as defined in Article III of the Constitution.

**Section 4.3 Composition:** The voting members of the Board shall be composed of the Immediate Past-President, President, President-Elect, Treasurer, and nine (9) Trustees-At-

Large. The positions of Immediate Past-President and President-Elect will not both be filled in the same year. Thus, in any given year there will be eleven (11) voting members. The Executive Director of the association shall serve as Secretary and be a non-voting member of the Board. Those members serving on the Board at the time of the adoption of these Bylaws shall remain on the Board until their term expires under the provisions of the Bylaws in effect at the time of their election or until they resign from the Board, whichever occurs first. Once such Board members leave the Board, they shall be replaced by members elected in accordance with the provisions in section 4.4.

**Section 4.4 Election:** Election of Board Trustees-At-Large shall be by a simple majority of the votes cast in the Council of Directors at the annual meeting of the Council. The Council shall prescribe the specific manner of voting in its written Standing Rules approved and published by the Council from time to time. These rules will include provisions for the Council of Directors to offer names of candidates to be placed in nomination in addition to those presented by the nominating committee.

**Section 4.5 Term:** The term of office of Board Trustees-At-Large shall be three years and shall begin at the conclusion of the Council of Directors meeting at which the Board Trustee-At-Large was elected and shall end at the conclusion of the Council meeting following the third succeeding election meeting of the Council of Directors. No Board Trustees-At-Large may serve more than two consecutive three-year terms unless specified elsewhere in these Bylaws.

**Section 4.6 Meetings:** The Board of Trustees shall meet at least three times annually. One of these meetings shall take place not later than 30 days following the annual meeting of the Council. The other meetings shall take place at such other times and places as the Board may determine. Meetings may take place within or outside of the State of New York. A majority of the voting Board members shall constitute a quorum. Each Board Trustee shall receive notice of such meetings no less than 30 days prior to the meeting. Subject to the provisions of these Bylaws with respect to notice of meetings of the Board of Trustees, members of the Board of Trustees may participate in and hold additional meetings of such Board by means of conference telephone or similar communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and participation in a meeting pursuant to this section shall constitute presence in person at such meeting, except where a Trustee participates in such meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the ground that the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

Any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the Board may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing, setting forth the action to be taken, shall be signed by all of the voting members of the Board, and such a consent shall have the same force and effect as a unanimous vote of the members of the Board at a meeting of the Board.

The President may call special meetings of the Board of Trustees with not less than 30 days' notice to each Trustee, either personally or by other appropriate means of communication. The President shall call special meetings when requested by one-third of the current voting members of the Board. Such special meetings shall be called in like manner and on like notice. Such notice of a special meeting of the Board of Trustees shall specify the business to be transacted at, and the purpose of, such special meeting.

**Section 4.7 Removal:** Any Trustee-At-Large of the Board of Trustees may be removed from office at any meeting of the Council by a vote of three-quarters (3/4) of the total votes cast in the Council. The rules and procedure governing removal shall be determined by the Council and

published in its Standing Rules from time to time.

**Section 4.8 Vacancy:** Any vacancy filled shall be for the remainder of the unexpired term. A vacancy created by removal shall be filled by a simple majority of the votes cast in the Council of Directors at the Council meeting at which the removal occurs. The Nominating Committee shall present a slate of candidates for vacant positions. Nominations for such vacancy can also be accepted from the floor of the Council. Succession or election to fill any vacated Board position shall not count toward the term limit for that office. Vacancies created other than by removal may be filled by a majority vote of the Council at its next regularly scheduled meeting.

**Section 4.9 Indemnification:** The Association shall indemnify each of its officers and trustees to the fullest extent provided by, and in accordance with, the New York Nonprofit Corporation Act as that act is in effect on the date of the occurrence giving rise to such indemnification as is provided herein. The Association shall indemnify each of its volunteer committee chairs and employees to same extent as its officers and trustees.

## **Article V OFFICERS**

**Section 5.1 Officers:** The officers of the association shall be the Immediate Past President, President, President-Elect, Treasurer, and Secretary.

**Section 5.2 Election of Officers:** The Board shall elect the Treasurer of the organization from among the names submitted to it by the Executive Nominating Committee as well as nominations from the floor, if any. The President-Elect shall be elected by the general membership. The election of these officers shall be in accordance with the Board's policies and operational guidelines as established and edited by it from time to time. These rules will include provisions for members of the Institute to offer names of candidates to be placed in nomination in addition to those presented by the nominating committee. Those officers serving on the Board at the time of the adoption of these Bylaws shall remain in office until their term expires. Those who are serving as President-Elect and President at the time of adoption of these Bylaws shall assume the office of President and Immediate Past President, respectively, upon the expiration of the term of their current offices.

**Section 5.3 Removal:** The President or the President-Elect may be removed from office by a vote of three-quarters (3/4) of the total votes cast by the general membership. The Treasurer may be removed from office by a vote of three-quarters (3/4) of the total votes cast by the Board. The rules and procedure governing removal elections for officers shall be determined by the Board and published in its Standing Rules from time to time.

**Section 5.4 Vacancies:** Upon the President's vacancy, the Board shall have the authority to place any of the elected officers in the President's vacant position. Succession to fill this office shall not count toward the term limit for that office. Vacancies in any other elected officer positions shall either be filled by the same manner of election as regular elections for officers or shall be left vacant. The decision of which option to use shall rest solely with the Board.

## **Article VI DUTIES OF OFFICERS**

**Section 6.1 President:** The President shall be a voting member of the Board of Trustees, and shall additionally hold ex-officio membership in all committees. The President shall serve as the

association's Chief Elected Officer, Chairperson of the Board of Trustees and its Executive Committee. The President's term of office shall begin at the conclusion of the first Board meeting after which an election takes place and shall end at the conclusion of the first Board meeting two years from that date after which another election takes place, or when a successor is seated. The President is not eligible for another term as President.

**Section 6.2 President-Elect:** The President-Elect shall automatically ascend to the office of President as soon as his term as President-Elect is completed. The President-Elect shall be familiar with all the activities of the association, serve as a member of the Board of Trustees and its Executive Committee, prepare for his term of President and assume the duties of the President in the absence or incapacity of the President. The President-Elect's term of office shall begin at the conclusion of the first Board meeting after which an election takes place and shall end at the conclusion of the first Board meeting one year from that date after which another election takes place, or when a successor is seated.

**Section 6.3 Treasurer:** The Treasurer shall be a member of the Board. The Treasurer shall cause to be kept adequate and proper accounts of the properties, funds, and records of AIAA and shall perform such other duties as prescribed by the Board. The Treasurer's term of office shall begin at the conclusion of the first Board meeting after which an election takes place and shall end at the conclusion of the first Board meeting three years from that date after which another election for Treasurer takes place, or when a successor is seated. The Treasurer is the sole office eligible for reelection. The Treasurer may serve no more than two (2) consecutive terms.

**Section 6.4 Immediate Past President:** The Immediate Past President shall remain a member of the Board of Trustees for a period of one year following his term as President.

**Section 6.5 Executive Director:** An Executive Director shall be appointed for a term and at a stipend to be fixed by the Board of Trustees. The Executive Director shall, under the direction of the Board, perform such duties as may be assigned by the Board of Trustees. The Executive Director shall keep or cause to be kept an accurate record of the minutes and transactions of the Council and of the Board and shall serve as Secretary to these bodies. The Executive Director shall supervise all other employees and agents of AIAA and have such other powers and the Board of Trustees or these Bylaws may prescribe. The Executive Director shall not be entitled to vote.

## **Article VII COUNCIL OF DIRECTORS**

**Section 7.1: Composition of the Council of Directors:** The Council shall be composed of Directors from Regions, Technical Groups and Integration and Outreach Groups. In addition, the Chiefs of the Technical Activities Division, Section and Regions Activities Division, and Integration and Outreach Activities Division, respectively, shall serve as ex-officio members (without vote) to the Council of Directors.

**Section 7.2: Powers of the Council:** The Council of Directors shall have the right and responsibility to advise the Board of Trustees regarding any matter of importance to AIAA by means of resolutions. The Board shall act on all resolutions adopted by the Council no later than the second Board meeting following the meeting of the Council at which the resolution was adopted.

The Board of Trustees shall take one of the following actions regarding a non-Bylaws resolution adopted by the Council:

- i. Adopt the resolution as adopted by the Council.
- ii. Overrule the resolution by a majority vote of the Board.
- iii. Amend the resolution, as the Board deems appropriate.
- iv. Return the resolution to the Council with comment and a request for further consideration by the Council.

The Council of Directors shall have, in addition, the following powers:

- i. To prepare and control its own agenda.
- ii. To act on any matter brought before it by a delegate or the Board of Trustees.
- iii. To originate and act on resolutions.
- iv. To elect the Trustees-At-Large of the Board.
- v. To elect its own Speaker.
- vi. To develop, adopt, and amend its rules of procedure (the Council Standing Rules) and other procedures for the conduct of Council business.
- vii. To elect six (6) members to the Executive Nominating Committee.

**Section 7.3: Speaker:** The Speaker shall act as presiding officer of the Council and shall not have any voting rights in the Council. The Speaker shall be elected by a majority of votes cast by the Council Directors at the Council meeting at which an election takes place. The Speaker's term of office shall begin at the conclusion of the Council meeting at which an election for Speaker takes place and shall end at the conclusion of the Council Meeting three (3) years after the Speaker's initial election, or when a successor is seated. The Speaker shall be eligible to serve two (2) consecutive terms. The Speaker may be removed from office at any meeting of the Council by a vote of three-quarters (3/4) of the total votes cast in the Council. The rules and procedure governing removal shall be determined by the Council and published in its Standing Rules from time to time. If the Speaker's office becomes vacant as a result of removal, the Council shall elect a new Speaker at the same meeting at which the original chair was removed. The newly-elected Speaker shall be subject to the same length of term and term limits as a Speaker elected under a regular election. Should the office of Speaker become vacant for reasons other than removal, the Board shall have the authority to appoint an Interim Speaker until such time as either a special election for Speaker or a regular election at a Council meeting takes place. The decision of which option to use shall rest solely with the Board. Upon adoption of these Bylaws, the current President shall also serve as the Speaker of the Council until such time as the Council elects a Speaker according to the provisions in this section.

**Section 7.4 Meetings:** Meetings of the Council shall be held within or outside of the State of New York at such time and place as determined by the Board of Trustees. The Council will meet at least once a year. Notice for the meeting shall be not less than 30 days prior to the meeting. All members of AIAA shall be notified of all Council meetings by mail (electronic or U.S. post) or official publication.

**Section 7.5 Quorum:** If the Council Directors credentialed at a session of the Council represent a

majority of the total number of Directors credentialed, a quorum is established.

**Section 7.6 Resolutions:** Resolutions pertinent to the objectives of AIAA or in relation to any report by an officer, committee, or task force of AIAA shall be submitted to the Speaker in writing at least 30 days in advance of the Council meeting at which such resolutions are to be considered. Resolutions submitted within 30 days of the Council meeting shall be considered only as provided in the Council Standing Rules. Any member or member organization of AIAA may submit a resolution. Council Directors may vote or abstain from voting on any matter before the Council.

In the case of a member organization-sponsored resolution (e.g., a resolution from a Region, Technical Group or Integration and Outreach Group), such resolution must be accompanied by a letter of endorsement from the sponsoring body. Upon approval by the Council and except for changes to the Council Standing Rules or amendments to Bylaws, resolutions shall be forwarded immediately to the Board of Trustees for its consideration.

## **Article VIII EXECUTIVE NOMINATING COMMITTEE**

**Section 8.1 Composition:** The Executive Nominating Committee shall be composed of 12 voting members, excluding the Chair: six (6) members selected by the Board (none of whom shall be current Board Members) and six (6) members appointed by the Council (none of whom shall be current Council Directors). The Immediate Past President shall serve as Chair of the committee (with vote) until such time as replaced by the succeeding Immediate Past President. The voting members of the committee shall serve for three years. Each voting member shall have a limit of one additional consecutive term. During the initial establishment of the committee, voting members shall draw lots for 1-, 2-, and 3-year terms. Those members drawing lots for less than three years may serve two additional successive three-year terms. Upon the adoption of these Bylaws, the Nominating Committee as composed according to the Bylaws that were in effect immediately preceding these Bylaws shall serve as the members of the Executive Nominating Committee until such time as the elections occur under these Bylaws to enable the Council and the Board to appoint members of the committee according to the provisions of this section.

**Section 8.2 Purpose:** The Executive Nominating Committee shall present nominations for officers and Board Trustees-At-Large. The committee shall, at a minimum, present a slate that consists of one candidate for each elected position. If the committee chooses, it may present a slate consisting of more candidates than there are open positions. The committee shall develop and publish selection criteria as well as procedures to ensure that the pool of candidates meet those criteria and reflect as much as possible the diversity of the membership.

## **Article IX COUNCIL OF DIRECTORS NOMINATING COMMITTEE**

**Section 9.1 Composition:** The nominating committee shall be composed of one member from each Region, Technical Group, and Integration and Outreach Group as described in Article III of these Bylaws. The respective Directors of each group shall appoint a voting member to the committee who is neither a current member of the Board or the Council. The Speaker shall appoint a past Speaker of the Council of Directors to serve as chair of the committee until such time as replaced by the succeeding appointee. With the exception of the chair, members of the committee shall serve for three years. Each member shall have a limit of one additional consecutive term. During the initial

establishment of the committee, members shall draw lots for 1-, 2-, and 3-year terms. Those members drawing lots for less than three years may serve two additional successive three-year terms. Upon the adoption of these Bylaws, the Nominating

Committee as composed according to the Bylaws that were in effect immediately preceding these Bylaws shall serve as the members of the Council of Directors Nominating Committee until such time as the elections occur under these Bylaws to populate the positions that shall appoint new members to this committee as specified in this section.

**Section 9.2 Purpose:** The Council of Directors Nominating Committee shall present nominations for the Speaker, the Division Chiefs, and the Council of Directors. The committee shall, at a minimum, present a slate that consists of one candidate for each elected position. If the committee chooses, it may present a slate consisting of more candidates than there are open positions. The committee shall develop and publish selection criteria as well as procedures to ensure that the pool of candidates meet those criteria and reflect as much as possible the diversity of the membership.

## **Article X EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE**

**Section 10.1 Composition and Purpose:** The Board of Trustees shall have an Executive Committee composed of the Immediate Past President, President, President-Elect, Secretary, and Treasurer. The Executive Committee shall serve to advise the President and Executive Director. Meetings of the Executive Committee shall be held at the call of the President. The Executive Committee shall give a report to the Board of Trustees in writing within two weeks of the adjournment of the meeting.

## **Article XI AUDIT COMMITTEE**

**Section 11.1 Composition and Purpose:** The Audit Committee shall serve as a focal point for communication between the Board and the independent accounts of the Institute. It shall assist the Board in fulfilling its fiduciary responsibilities by developing and recommending to the Board financial accounting policies and reporting practices, and a system of internal financial controls. The Committee shall review the scope and general extent of the examination to be performed prior to each year's audit. It shall review the financial results, upon completion of the audit, with the Executive Director and the independent accountants, prior to their release. The Audit Committee shall consist of six (6) members: the Treasurer (who shall serve as Chair) and the remaining 5 members appointed by the President. Of those 5, one member shall be a Board Trustee-At-Large, one member shall be from the Council of Directors and the remainder none of whom are current Board or Council members. They shall be appointed for one-year terms, with no term limits.

## **Article XII FINANCE COMMITTEE**

**Section 12.1 Composition and Purpose:** The primary responsibilities of the Finance Committee are to monitor the financial performance and position of the Institute, making recommendations to ensure its financial health, present a budget to the Board that is consistent with the strategic plan, and make recommendations on availability of funds to support Board decisions.

The Finance Committee will be a committee of the Board. The committee will be composed of six members and chaired by the Treasurer. The President-Elect shall also be a member of the

Finance Committee. The President shall appoint four Board Trustees-At-Large to the Finance Committee, each to serve a three-year term. An Investment Subcommittee shall be charged with managing the Institute portfolio investment strategy. The Chair of the Investment Subcommittee shall be a member of the Finance Committee. Members of the subcommittee will be appointed by the President and need not be Board Members. These members should be chosen based on the skill sets and competencies required to carry out the responsibilities of the subcommittee. The number of subcommittee members can vary as needed. Subcommittee Members, who are not Board Members, shall serve three-year terms with no more than two consecutive terms.

### **Article XIII COMPESNATION AND BENEFITS COMMITTEE**

**Section 13.1 Composition and Purpose:** The primary responsibilities of the Compensation and Benefits Committee are to oversee the compensation, performance objectives and contract renewal of the Executive Director of the Institute, and to review the annual compensation recommendations and benefits package of AIAA staff.

The Compensation Committee will be a committee of the Board. The committee will be composed of five members and chaired by the Treasurer. The President shall appoint three Board members to the Compensation Committee, each to serve a three-year term, and one non-Board Member. These members should be chosen based on the skill sets and competencies required to carry out the responsibilities of the committee. The number of committee members can vary as needed. Committee Members who are not Board Members, shall serve three-year terms with no more than two consecutive terms.

### **Article XIV MISCELLANEOUS**

**Section 14.1 Corporate Seal:** The Association may have a corporate seal in such form and design as the Board determines, which shall comply with state law.

**Section 14.2 Fiscal Year:** The Board shall, from time to time, establish the Association's fiscal year.

**Section 14.3 Parliamentary Procedure:** Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised shall govern the proceedings of the Board, the Council of Directors, and all committees in all cases not otherwise provided for in applicable federal or state statute or rule, the Articles of Incorporation, Constitution, or Bylaws of the Association or its policies or procedures.

**Section 14.4 Contracts:** Subject to the other provisions of these Bylaws and as permitted by law, the Board may authorize the Executive Director to enter into any contract or execute or deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Association. This authority may be general or confined to specific interests.

**Section 14.5 Confidential Information:** Association members, trustees, officers, employees, and agents

shall maintain in confidence and not use or disclose to others, except as permitted by law, these Bylaws, or written consent of the Association, confidential information of the Association.

**Section 14.6 Publications:** To fulfill objectives of the Association, the Board may authorize publication of periodicals.

**Section 14.7 Bonding:** The Association shall secure a fidelity bond or bonds aggregating not less than \$1,000,000 issued by a company or companies acceptable to the Board to secure the faithful performance of Association trustees, officers, employees, and agents responsible for handling Association funds.

**Section 14.8 Insurance or Other Arrangement:** AIAA shall have the power to purchase and maintain insurance or another arrangement on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, or employee of AIAA, or who is or was not a director, officer, or employee of AIAA, but is or was serving at the request of AIAA as a director, officer, or employee or any other capacity in another corporation, or a partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, against any liability asserted against such person and incurred by such person in such capacity, arising out of such person's status as such, whether or not such person is indemnified against such liability by the provisions of these Bylaws.

**Section 14.9 Exclusion of Certain Acts from Indemnification:** Notwithstanding any other provision of these Bylaws, no director, officer, volunteer committee chair, or employee of AIAA shall be indemnified for any dishonest or fraudulent acts, willful violation of applicable law, or actions taken by such person when acting outside of the scope of such person's office, position, or authority with or granted by AIAA or the Board.

**Section 14.10 Compensation/Reimbursement:** No Association director, committee member, or elected officer shall receive any compensation for services in their capacity as a director, committee member, or elected officer. The Association shall develop policies relating to the reimbursement of trustees, committee members, and elected officers reasonably incurred in attending meetings and performing special assignments of the Association.

**Section 14.11 Annual Audit:** The Association shall create an Audit Committee that shall cause an independent certified public accountant, selected by the Audit Committee, to make an annual examination of its financial accounts and shall submit the report of examination to the Board.

**Section 14.12 Dissolution:** In the event of dissolution, the Association shall make provision for all liabilities; dispose of assets; and distribute its remaining net assets to such entity or entities and in a manner as permitted by an entity exempt from taxation under Section 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or any successor provision.

**Section 14.13 Inspection of Records:** The minutes of the proceedings of the Board of Trustees and of the Council, the membership books, and books of account shall be open to inspection upon the written demand of any member at any reasonable time, and shall be produced at any time when requested by the demand of 10 percent of the members at any meeting of the Council. Such inspection may be made by the member, agent, or attorney, and shall include the right to make extracts thereof. Demand of inspection, other than at a meeting of the members, shall be in writing to the President or the Treasurer of AIAA and shall include an affidavit that such inspection is not desired and will not be used for a purpose which is in the interest of a business or object other than the business of AIAA.

**Section 14.14: Authority During Transition:** If, in the initial implementation of these Bylaws, it is not feasible to fill certain positions by the means prescribed in these Bylaws, the Board shall

have the authority to make initial appointments for such positions. Thereafter, such positions shall be filled by the means prescribed by these Bylaws.

**Article XV**  
**ETHICS**

The "Code of Ethics for AIAA Members" shall be the ethical foundation of the organization. Charges of violations of ethical principles or policies contained in the "Code of Ethics for AIAA Members" may be brought in accordance with procedures described in policies established and published by the Board from time to time.

**Article XVI**  
**AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS**

Once both the Council of Directors and the Board of Trustees are in place, the Bylaws may be amended by an affirmative two-thirds (2/3) vote of the voting members of Board of Trustees and the Council of Directors, respectively. Amendments may be proposed and passed by either body and then submitted to the other body for ratification. During the transition period when a Council of Directors is not established, the Board may amend these Bylaws by an affirmative two-thirds (2/3) vote of the voting members of that body.